Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

10-16-2017

### State v. Ibarra Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44945

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

Jessica Ibarra contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct amounting to fundamental error by twice asking one of the officers to give his opinion about her guilt even though the district court had already sustained an objection to a third such question. Ms. Ibarra also contends that the district court erred by admitting propensity evidence because the State did not provide the requisite written notice of its intent to introduce that evidence. Finally, she asserts that the district court abused its discretion by entering a restitution award which was solely based on the prosecutor's unsworn statement, not on substantial evidence.

Accordingly, this Court should vacate her judgments of conviction and remand these cases for a new trial. Alternatively, it should vacate the portions of the restitution order which are not supported by substantial evidence.

### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Given the number and diversity of the errors in this case, to promote clarity, the facts relevant to the specific issues will be set forth in the respective sections of the brief. Generally though, Ms. Ibarra was a passenger in a car with her then-boyfriend, and they were pulled over when an officer saw him fail to completely stop at a stop sign. (R., p.225.) Subsequent searches of the car and its occupants revealed drugs, paraphernalia, and a gun. (R., pp.225-28.)

A jury ultimately convicted Ms. Ibarra of possession of cocaine (enhanced based on a prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance), unlawful possession of a firearm, misdemeanor possession of marijuana, and misdemeanor possession of paraphernalia.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Hereinafter, the charges will be referred to as the "cocaine charge," the "firearm charge," the "marijuana charge," and the "paraphernalia charge," respectively.

(R., pp.324-27.) The district court imposed an aggregate sentence of nineteen years, with six and one-half years fixed, which consisted of: a fourteen-year sentence, with six and one-half years fixed, for the cocaine charge; a consecutive five-year sentence, with zero years fixed, for the firearm charge; and concurrent 180-day sentences for the two misdemeanor charges. (Tr., Vol.1, p.120, L.8 - p.121, L.23.)<sup>2</sup> Ms. Ibarra filed notices of appeal timely from the resulting judgments of conviction. (R., pp.75, 83-84, 89-92, 339-44.)

---

<sup>2</sup> The transcripts in this case are provided in three independently bound and paginated volumes. To avoid confusion, “Vol.1” will refer to the volume containing the transcripts of the motion to suppress hearing and sentencing hearing. “Vol.2” will refer to the volume containing the transcript of the first day of the jury trial, and “Vol.3” will refer to the volume containing the transcript of the second day of trial.

## ISSUES

- I. Whether the prosecutor committed misconduct by eliciting opinion testimony about Ms. Ibarra's guilt in regard to the firearm charge.
- II. Whether the district court erred by admitting propensity evidence when the State failed to provide the written notice required under I.R.E. 404(b).
- III. Whether the district court abused its discretion by ordering restitution which was solely based on the prosecutor's unsworn statement, not on sufficient evidence.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct By Eliciting Opinion Testimony About Ms. Ibarra's Guilt In Regard To The Firearm Charge

##### A. Relevant Facts

During her direct examination of Officer Duke, the prosecutor asked him: “Based on your training and experience, you believed they were both guilty of this [possessing the gun in the car]?” (Tr., Vol.2, p.183, Ls.21-22.) The district court sustained defense counsel’s objection to that question. (Tr., Vol.2, p.183, Ls.23-24.) Nevertheless, during her redirect examination, the prosecutor again asked Officer Duke: “If you believed that someone was innocent, would you arrest them?” and “[I]f you believed Jessica did not know about the gun and did not have access to it, would you have arrested her?” (Tr., Vol.2, p.214, Ls.14-15, p.215, Ls.16-18.) The officer answered “No” to both questions without further objection. (*See* Tr., Vol.2, p.214, Ls.14-16, p.215, Ls.16-19.)

##### B. Standard Of Review

When raising claims of unobjected-to error, the appellant must demonstrate that the error affected one of her unwaived constitutional rights, that the error was clear from the face of the record, and that there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial. *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 226 (2010).

##### C. The Prosecutor’s Improper Eliciting Of The Officer’s Opinion About The Ms. Ibarra’s Guilt Was Misconduct, And That Misconduct Amounted To Fundamental Error

A witness’s opinion which serves to evaluate the circumstances of the case, or in other words, to weigh the evidence, and thus, “render the same conclusion the jury was asked to render

by its verdict,” is inadmissible. *State v. Hester*, 114 Idaho 688, 696 (1988). This is because such opinions do not speak to a matter that is beyond the common sense, experience, and education of the average juror, and so, such opinions do not “assist” the jury in fulfilling its duties. *See State v. Ellington*, 151 Idaho 53, 66 (2011). Therefore, when the prosecutor attempts to elicit this sort of improper, inflammable, or irrelevant testimony, she commits misconduct. *Id.* at 62.

The questions the prosecutor asked during her redirect examination of Officer Duke do precisely that. She expressly asked Officer Duke to weigh the evidence in regard to the elements of constructive possession of the firearm – whether he “believed Jessica did not know about the gun and did not have access to it.” (Tr., Vol.2, p.215, Ls.16-18.) Furthermore, by asking him if he would have still arrested her if he did not believe either of those two facts existed – whether he would have arrested a person if he “believed that someone was innocent” (Tr., Vol.2, p.214, Ls.14-15) – the prosecutor was asking Officer Duke to opine on precisely the same question the jury would be asked to answer in its verdict. (*Compare* R., p.308 (the elements instruction for the firearm charge).) Essentially, the prosecutor was asking Officer Duke the same question she had pointedly asked on direct examination – whether he believed is Ms. Ibarra (along with the driver of the car) was “guilty of this.” (Tr., Vol.2, p.183, Ls.21-22.) Such questions about the ultimate issue, as the district court indicated by sustaining the objection to the first such question, are wholly improper. *See, e.g., Ellington*, 151 Idaho at 66; *Hester*, 114 Idaho at 696.

As such, the prosecutor’s questions on redirect constitute misconduct. That misconduct is properly challenged in this appeal under the doctrine of fundamental error.

1. The Prosecutor's Misconduct Violated Ms. Ibarra's Unwaived Constitutional Due Process Right To A Fair Trial In A Fair Tribunal

In regard to the first prong of the *Perry* test, Ms. Ibarra recognizes that not all instances of prosecutorial misconduct involving eliciting improper evidence will rise to the level of constitutional error, but they are not categorically excluded from consideration as fundamental error either. *See State v. Lankford*, 162 Idaho 477, \_\_\_, 399 P.3d 804, 823-24 (2017) (“evidentiary errors do not implicate constitutional considerations unless the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal”) (internal quotation and alterations omitted); *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 227 (indicating that prosecutorial misconduct could “impact[] a defendant’s Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial); *accord Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643-45 (1974) (in reviewing a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the United States Supreme Court explained that “the process of constitutional line drawing in this regard is necessarily imprecise,” but it ultimately held that “this incident [of misconduct] made respondent’s trial so fundamentally unfair as to deny him due process”).

Therefore, it is possible for a situation to arise in which prosecutorial misconduct resulting in the improper admission of evidence reaches such a prejudicial level that it will deprive the defendant of due process and a fair trial, thereby amounting to fundamental error. *See, e.g., Ellington*, 151 Idaho at 65-67 (explaining that, even though no objection was made when the officer gratuitously offered an improper opinion on direct examination,<sup>3</sup> “had Mr. Ellington raised this issue as another instance of prosecutorial misconduct on appeal, we would have found, once again, that the State’s conduct was improper”); *United States v. Vera*,

---

<sup>3</sup> The defense attorney in *Ellington* did object when the officer made similar statements during redirect examination. *See Ellington*, 151 Idaho at 66.

770 F.3d 1232, 1243 (9th Cir. 2014) (vacating a conviction under the federal plain error doctrine because, even though it had not been objected-to, the prosecutor had elicited improper opinion testimony from an officer).<sup>4</sup>

Ms. Ibarra's is one such case. Here, the prosecutor asked the officer to opine on Ms. Ibarra's guilt on three different occasions, and was successful in the latter two efforts. The reason eliciting this sort of opinion testimony is problematic, as numerous courts have recognized, is that jurors may defer to the witness's opinion rather than weighing the evidence themselves. *See, e.g., State v. Johnson*, 119 Idaho 852, 857 (Ct. App. 1991) ("In view of the deference that the jury may have held for the doctor's testimony," his improper opinion testimony about another witness's credibility should have been excluded); *United States v. Freeman*, 730 F.3d 590, 599 (6th Cir. 2013) ("An agent presented to a jury with an aura of expertise and authority increased the risk that the jury will be swayed improperly by the agent's testimony, rather than rely on its own interpretation of the evidence.")<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Granting relief under the federal plain error doctrine is appropriate when the error "seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." *See United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 736 (1993). Thus, the decision in *Vera* suggests the misconduct in that case violated the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial.

<sup>5</sup> *See also Vera*, 770 F.3d at 1243, 1252-53 (vacating portions of a verdict based on the improperly-admitted expert testimony of a federal agent because of the risk the jury deferred to that opinion); *United States v. Hampton*, 718 F.3d 978, 981-82, 984 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (holding the reasonable possibility that the jurors had deferred to an officer's improper opinion testimony meant the error in admitting that testimony was not harmless); *United States v. Grinage*, 390 F.3d 746, 751 (2nd Cir. 2004) (same); *cf. State v. Phillips*, 144 Idaho 82, 87 (Ct. App. 2007) (explaining that prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument is problematic because prosecutors (like the officer in Ms. Ibarra's case) "occupy an official position, which necessarily leads jurors to give more credence to their statements, action and conduct in the course of the trial and in the presence of the jury than they will counsel for the accused.") (quoting *State v. Irwin*, 9 Idaho 35, 43-44 (1903)); *Reynolds v. State*, 126 Idaho 24, 30 (Ct. App. 1994) ("Experts often possess special knowledge or training, giving their opinions of credibility great weight in the minds of the jury.")

This concern is particularly present when the witness in question is a police officer, as jurors are even more likely to defer to an officer's conclusions than to those of other witnesses. *See, e.g., Grinage*, 390 F.3d at 751 (explaining that, since the federal agent's testimony "went to the crux of the Government's case[,] the jury may well have afforded *unusual* authority to the agent, who was presented as having expertise, as well as knowledge beyond that available to the jury") (emphasis added); *Hampton*, 718 F.3d at 981-82 ("Judicial scrutiny of a law-enforcement witness's purported basis for lay opinion *is especially important* because of the risk that the jury will defer to the officer's superior knowledge of the case and past experiences with similar cases") (emphasis added). In essence, as courts have repeatedly recognized, this sort of misconduct drives at the heart of the due process right to a fair trial before a fair tribunal because it effectively causes the jury to cease functioning as a neutral arbiter.

As problematic as that is, the error in this case is actually even more insidious because the prosecutor repeatedly engaged in this misconduct after the district court had sustained an objection to that line of questioning, meaning the misconduct here was even more likely to deprive Ms. Ibarra of her constitutional right to a fair trial. As the Idaho Supreme Court noted in *Ellington*, where the prosecutor also continued to ask improper questions after the district court had sustained an objection to that line of questioning, "[t]he court should not have to lecture the prosecutor in front of the jury in order to get its point across that the current line of questioning is inappropriate and the prosecutor should move on to the next one." *Ellington*, 151 Idaho at 63. Therefore, given the nature of this particular type of misconduct and the repeated efforts to engage in it, the facts of this case present the situation where the prosecutorial misconduct rises to a constitutional violation, depriving Ms. Ibarra of her constitutional due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal.

2. The Prosecutor's Misconduct Is Clear From The Face Of The Record

Under the second prong of the *Perry* test, the transcript is eminently clear as to what questions the prosecutor asked of Officer Duke. (Tr., Vol.2, p.183, Ls.21-22, p.214, Ls.14-15, p.215, Ls.16-18.) Those questions are just as clearly improper. *See, e.g., Ellington*, 151 Idaho at 66; *Hester*, 114 Idaho at 696. Therefore, the error is clear from the record.

3. There Is A Reasonable Possibility The Prosecutor's Misconduct Affected The Outcome On The Firearm Charge

In regard to the third prong of *Perry*, the major problem with this sort of misconduct is that the jurors may disregard otherwise-reasonable doubts and simply adopt the improper opinion in their evaluation of the case instead. (*See* Section I(A)(1), *supra*.) As a result, several courts have indicated there is a reasonable possibility such an error would affect the outcome of the trial. *See, e.g., Vera*, 770 F.3d at 1243 (vacating a conviction under the federal plain error doctrine, which requires the same sort of showing of harm by the appellant); *Freeman*, 730 F.3d at 599-600 (holding that such misconduct was not harmless); *Hampton*, 718 F.3d at 984 (same); *Grinage*, 390 F.3d at 751-52 (same); *Johnson*, 119 Idaho at 859 (same).

This reasonable possibility is evident in Ms. Ibarra's case because there are several aspects of the firearm charge about which the jurors may have harbored reasonable doubts, particularly in regard to the elements of her knowledge of, and ability to control, the gun. For example, Officer Duke himself made numerous statements during the course of his encounter with Ms. Ibarra in which he expressed doubt as to her assertion that the gun was hers, and thus, of her knowledge of, and ability to control, the gun. (*See, e.g., Exhibit 20.*) Rather, as he told her, he felt she was lying in order to try and protect the driver of the car. (*See Exhibit 20.*) Furthermore, the recording of Ms. Ibarra's testimony during the preliminary hearing in the

driver's case reveals the prosecutor there thoroughly impeaching her assertion that she knew about the gun, demonstrating, for example, that she had no knowledge about the specifics of the gun, such as its maker, model, or magazine size. (*See* Exhibit 42.) The jurors could have easily harbored those same doubts about Ms. Ibarra's knowledge of, and ability to control, the gun, and based on those doubts, acquitted her of the firearm charge. There is, thus, a reasonable possibility that they abandoned those reasonable doubts and cleaved to the opinion the prosecutor expressly and improperly elicited from Officer Duke about the existence of those elements despite those reasonable doubts. Therefore, there is a reasonable possibility the prosecutor's repeated misconduct affected the outcome of the trial on the firearms charge.

As such, this Court should vacate Ms. Ibarra's conviction because the prosecutor's repeated misconduct constitutes fundamental error.

## II.

### The District Court Erred By Admitting Propensity Evidence When The State Failed To Provide The Written Notice Required Under I.R.E. 404(b)

#### A. Relevant Facts

On the morning of the first day of trial, the prosecutor gave verbal notice to defense counsel of her intention to ask one of her witnesses about lab tests conducted on a pipe found in the car, which confirmed the presence of methamphetamine. (Tr., Vol.2, p.19, Ls.8-15, p.20, Ls.18-19.) The prosecutor argued that evidence was relevant to whether Ms. Ibarra knew the pipe was actually drug paraphernalia, but the prosecutor also noted that video from Officer Duke's body camera had recorded him asking Ms. Ibarra who owned "the meth pipe," and that she had responded that she did. (Tr., Vol.2, p.21, Ls.11-16; *see* Exhibit 20.)

Defense counsel objected to the State introducing evidence about those test results, arguing that such evidence spoke to an act with which Ms. Ibarra had not been charged (possession of methamphetamine), and therefore, that evidence was subject to the requirements of I.R.E. 404(b). (Tr., Vol.2, p.19, L.25 - p.20, L.5; *see generally* R., pp.7-10, 38-39 (the complaint and information identifying the charges in this case).) He argued that evidence was not admissible because the prosecutor had not provided written notice of her intent to admit that evidence as required by that rule. (Tr., Vol.2, p.20, Ls.8-22.) He also noted that “it’s important for the Court to distinguish between my client admitting the pipe is a methamphetamine pipe and then now saying all right, we’ve tested it, and there’s actually methamphetamine in it.” (Tr., Vol.2, p.22, Ls.12-18.)

The district court did not discuss the notice requirements of I.R.E. 404(b) in ruling on that objection. (*See generally* Tr., Vol.2, p.22, L.19 - p.23, L.6.) Instead, it allowed the State to present testimony that the pipe had tested positive for “a controlled substance,” but forbade it from identifying the substance as methamphetamine. (Tr., Vol.2, p.22, L.20 - p.23, L.5.)

#### B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing the admission of propensity evidence, the Court conducts a two-prong analysis: “The first step was for the district court to determine whether the evidence met the requirements for admissibility under Rule 404(b), and the second step was for the court to decide under Rule 403 if the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” *State v. Rawlings*, 159 Idaho 498, 505 (2015). The notice requirement is reviewed as part of the first prong since “[t]he evidence would not meet the admissibility requirements of Rule 404(b) unless the Prosecutor filed and served the Rule 404(b)

notice reasonably in advance of trial.” *Id.* The first prong is subject to free review. *State v. Sheldon*, 145 Idaho 225, 229 (2007).

C. Since The State Did Not Provide The Required Written Notice, The Evidence Relating To The Tests On The Pipe Is Inadmissible In Any Form

The evidence of what the tests on the pipe revealed is properly subject to the requirements of I.R.E. 404(b) because uncharged possession of a controlled substance is an “other act” as contemplated by that rule. *See State v. Kralovec*, 161 Idaho 569, 574 (2017) (holding, while evaluating the application of I.R.E. 404(b), that other uncharged conduct occurring at the same time as the charged conduct “is only admissible if it meets the criteria established by the Idaho Rules of Evidence”). As a result, the prosecutor was required to provide written notice before any evidence relating to those test results would be admissible. *See, e.g., State v. Whitaker*, 152 Idaho 945, 950 (Ct. App. 2012) (“The notice requirement is mandatory and the failure to comply creates a bar to admission.”). Since the prosecutor did not ever provide any written notice (*see generally* R.), no evidence about those tests should have been admitted.

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