Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-5-2018

State v. Ibarra Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44945

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

A. No.

Q. And as part of your job, is it to arrest innocent people?

A. No.

Q. *If you believed someone was innocent, would you arrest them?*

A. No.

Q. So counsel had a conversation with you about your interaction with Ms. Ibarra, and you indicated that you didn't think Mr. [Mariano] Castillo was completely innocent—

A. Correct.

Q. —so you were using interview tactics to try to gain some further information?

A. Yes.

Q. And counsel suggested some ways maybe you could have interviewed, asking nicely basically?

A. Yes.

Q. And would you agree with me in State's Exhibit No. 12, when you asked, "Okay. Whose gun is it? Is it Mariano's?"

Is that a nice way to ask whose gun it was?

A. I thought I was being nice.

Q. And you described when we first talked today that sometimes you try to talk on a level to gain respect.

Is that what you eventually attempted to do, is speak to Jessica how she was speaking to you?

A. More or less; yes.

Q. Mimicking the language she was speaking with you?

A. Correct.

Q. *And if you believed Jessica did not know about the gun and did not have access to it, would you have arrested her?*

A. No.

(Tr. vol. II, p. 214, L. 2 – p. 215, L. 19 (emphasis added).)

Ibarra argues that the two questions highlighted above, asked during redirect examination, constitute fundamental error. (Appellant’s brief, p. 5.)² However, Ibarra fails to show the first question was improper, insofar as she fails to show it was referring to Ibarra, and not the driver of the car. Regarding the second question, defense counsel repeatedly cast doubt on the officer’s beliefs that Ibarra actually possessed the gun; insofar as counsel opened the door to this line of inquiry, it was proper for the state to clarify what the officer believed.

Even if error, the questions on redirect did not rise to the level of fundamental error because Ibarra fails to show a clearly violated constitutional right, plain on the record, that was not harmless.

B. Standard Of Review

Idaho’s courts review claims of prosecutorial misconduct “not preserved on appeal through an objection at trial” for fundamental error. State v. Parker, 157 Idaho 132, 141, 334 P.3d 806, 815 (2014).

² The question asked on direct—“[b]ased on your training and experience, you believed [the defendant and the driver] were both guilty of this?”, was objected to, and the objection was properly sustained. (Tr. vol. II, p. 183, Ls. 21-24.)

C. Ibarra Fails To Show A Violation Of A Constitutional Right, Clear On The Record, That Was Not Harmless; Thus, She Fails To Show That The Prosecutor's Statements Rose To The Level Of Fundamental Error

For the first time on appeal, Ibarra claims the prosecutor committed misconduct that deprived her of a fair trial by improperly eliciting the officer's opinion about her guilt during redirect examination. (Appellant's brief, pp. 4-10.) Because she did not preserve this claim with an objection below she is required to show fundamental error on appeal. State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 226, 245 P.3d 961, 978 (2010). To establish fundamental error,

the defendant bears the burden of persuading the appellate court that the alleged error: (1) violates one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless.

Id. at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

Ibarra has failed to show the prosecutor's questions on redirect constituted error, much less fundamental error entitling her to review of this unpreserved claim.

1. Ibarra Fails To Show The Questions Asked On Redirect Were Error, As She Fails To Show The First Question Pertained To Ibarra, And She Fails To Show The Second Question Was Not A Proper Response To Defense Counsel's Questions On Cross-Examination

Pursuant to Idaho Rules of Evidence 702 and 704, expert opinion testimony "that concerns conclusions or opinions that the average juror is qualified to draw from the facts utilizing the juror's common sense and normal experience is inadmissible." State v. Ellington, 151 Idaho 53, 66, 253 P.3d 727, 740 (2011); I.R.E. 702, 704. Questions such as these are objectionable not because they address the ultimate issue, but because they concern conclusions and "inference[s] that could be drawn by the jurors utilizing their

own common sense and normal experience.” See *id.* (quoting *State v. Parks*, 71 Or. App. 630, 693 P.2d 657, 659–60 (1985) (noting a question to an expert “was the defendant negligent?” would be objectionable, “not because it’s the ultimate issue to be determined by the jury, but because the witness is not better able to reach a conclusion on that issue”)); see also *State v. Turner*, 136 Idaho 629, 633, 38 P.3d 1285, 1289 (Ct. App. 2001). Applying this standard, the *Ellington* Court examined an accident-reconstruction expert’s testimony on whether the defendant acted intentionally. 151 Idaho at 65-67, 253 P.3d at 739-41. The *Ellington* Court concluded that expert testimony “that there was ‘not an accident’ was clearly inadmissible opinion testimony on Mr. Ellington’s state of mind that was not helpful to the jury.” *Id.* at 67, 253 P.3d at 741. Similarly, “a lay or expert witness cannot give an opinion of another witness’s credibility or encroach on the fact-finding functions of the jury.” *Parker*, 157 Idaho at 148-49, 334 P.3d at 822-23.

As a threshold matter, Ibarra has failed to show that the prosecutor’s first question was an error, because Ibarra fails to show the inquiry about arresting “someone” was a reference to *her*, and not Mariano Castillo, the driver of the car. The complete exchange was as follows:

Q. If you believed someone was innocent, would you arrest them?

A. No.

Q. So counsel had a conversation with you about your interaction with Ms. Ibarra, and you indicated that you didn’t think Mr. Castillo was completely innocent—

A. Correct.

Q. —so you were using interview tactics to try to gain some further information?

A. Yes.

(Tr. vol. II, p. 214, Ls. 14-23.) Placed in context, the “someone” in the prosecutor’s hypothetical was not Ibarra, but was Mariano, and the question sought to clarify the officer’s intent to elicit information about Mariano—an issue the defense had mentioned in cross-examination. (See Tr. vol. II, p. 212, Ls. 2-5.)

Moreover, Ibarra has failed to show that questions about *another* individual’s guilt or innocence would be prohibited by the rules of evidence. Admittedly, per Parker, a lay witness may not opine about another witness’s credibility or “encroach on the fact-finding functions of the jury.” Parker, 157 Idaho at 148-49, 334 P.3d at 822-23. It was therefore nonreversible error, in that case, “to comment on Parker’s truthfulness or guilt.” Id.

But Parker does not indicate this prohibition also applies to comments on *other* persons’ guilt. See id. And Mariano was not on trial here, Ibarra was. Mariano’s guilt or innocence was not a province reserved for the jury, nor was this statement an opinion about Mariano’s truthfulness. The officer simply explained his interview tactics, which were driven by a belief about Mariano’s guilt, and which the prosecutor brought up in response to a point addressed on cross-examination. Ibarra fails to show this was an error.

As for the prosecutor’s second question, regarding the officer’s beliefs about Ibarra’s knowledge of the gun, defense counsel directly opened the door to this line of questioning. Here, defense counsel’s strategy was to create doubt about the officer’s beliefs, based on the officer’s statements that Ibarra was trying to “take the heat for” Mariano (see State’s Ex. 20):

Q. So *I don't get it. I mean, she is admitting to the gun. Why are you so adamant about "taking the beef for him" and, you know, "absolutely not"?*

I think another one was, "Good luck. I hope you wise up and decide not to take the heat for him."

What do you care if she's doing that?

A. [from Officer Duke] Like I said, I do not believe Mariano was totally innocent.

And the fact that he got away with all of the drugs that were located, and—that's my point.

Q. Okay. *So your point isn't that you are skeptical about whether she actually knew the gun was there or not. You are just saying she is taking all of the heat for him?*

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. *Why didn't you say that? Why didn't you just say, "Look, Jessica. I know you knew the gun was there, but why aren't you saying? Why aren't you being honest and telling us that Mariano also knew the gun was there"?*

Why didn't you just say that? I mean, that's pretty easy; right?

Yes or no?

A. Yeah, I could have. Yeah. Absolutely.

Q. I mean, your goal here, according to your testimony, is to get her to admit he knew the gun was there as well; right?

A. Yeah.

Q. *So why are you taking the stand of, "I don't believe you"?*

Well of course I guess that's not what you are saying. You are just trying to say, "Don't take the heat for him."

But you are not actually asking her, "Look, come clean with us, tell us the truth. Tell us that it's Mariano's gun."

(Tr., vol. II, p. 211, L. 2 – p. 212, L. 13.)

Defense counsel's *sotto voce* theme here is unmistakable: why did the officer accuse Ibarra of "taking the beef" for Mariano if the officer believed her admissions about possessing the gun? And if the officer *did* believe her admissions, why did he not "just say that"? By asking these questions, repeatedly, defense counsel clearly intended to show that the officer did not believe Ibarra's admissions.

And if there was any doubt this was the intended implication, defense counsel himself affirmed this is what he meant, by *explicitly* making this argument in closing:

And then [Officer Duke] says, "Good luck." This is towards the end of the interview. I hope you wise up and decide not to take the heat for him. Once again, that's kind of a farewell, parting shot, so to speak. She goes, "I ain't taking the heat for no one." And then her voice kind of trails off. I'm not sure what she says. You can listen to it. And then he goes, "Really?" Once again. Our skeptic here.

Okay. *Why is Officer Duke reacting to Jessica that way? You would think he would be pretty happy. I've got someone who's confessed to a crime. My job is easy now, right? She's confessed. Easy. And this subject was broached, I think, by—I think somewhere along in this trial. And let me ask you this. Did you get a good explanation of these comments? So he—at the time, I guess he supposedly believed that she possessed the gun and he possessed the gun at the same time. Is that—was that what's going on here or what is the answer to that question? Okay? Or was this some kind of elaborate interrogation technique? You know, I kind of harass, or I act like I don't believe, or I say something one way and it's going to somehow get everybody else to confess to it another way? I'm not really sure.*

That's the point. Are you sure? Are you sure why he said that? Or maybe the real answer is he said what he said because he really didn't believe Jessica possessed the gun. He had his doubts. He knew what was going on that evening. He knew that the girlfriend was taking the fall for the boyfriend.

(Tr. vol. III, p. 129, L. 7 – p. 130, L. 15 (emphasis added).) Defense counsel could not have stated it more plainly; per defense counsel, the officer "really didn't believe Jessica

possessed the gun,” and counsel’s questions on cross-examination were no doubt intended to support this theory by calling the officer’s beliefs and motivations into question.

Defense counsel’s questions on cross-examination opened the door for the prosecutor to counter this line of attack and clarify what the officer *actually* believed. See e.g., State v. Lankford, 162 Idaho 477, 399 P.3d 804, 825 (2017) (quoting United States v. Dorsey, 677 F.3d 944, 954 (9th Cir. 2012) (“Having opened the door to the subject of the veracity of the State’s witnesses, the defense ‘should not be surprised to see the prosecutor enter.’”)). While questions regarding an officer’s beliefs about the defendant’s guilt would usually be improper, in this case, under these facts, they were not. Because defense counsel raised the issue of the officer’s beliefs about Ibarra’s culpability, the prosecutor properly clarified what the officer believed. Placed in the context of this case, the prosecutor’s questions were not error.

2. Even If Error, Ibarra Fails To Show That Questions To The Officer On Redirect Would Be A Violation Of An Unwaived Constitutional Right

Even if the questions posed on redirect were error, Ibarra fails to show fundamental error. First, to meet Perry’s first prong, Ibarra must show a violation of a constitutional right. Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980. And in Parker, the Idaho Supreme Court has made clear that eliciting inadmissible testimony of an “opinion of Parker’s truthfulness or guilt” is simply an evidentiary error—and not a *constitutional* violation—and therefore “does not satisfy the threshold analysis under the fundamental error standard.” State v. Parker, 157 Idaho 132, 148-49, 334 P.3d 806, 822-23 (2014).

The Parker court reviewed the state’s direct examination of a detective who testified about “the physical and verbal cues that he observes during interviews” of suspects. Id. at 148, 334 P.3d at 822. The detective “testified that it was a cue to him that Parker did not deny the allegations of inappropriate contact” with the victim,” “[b]ecause in [the detective’s] training and experience, someone that—most people, when they are accused of something they didn’t do, will deny it.” Id. When asked about why he deployed certain themes in interviews, the detective testified, “I take it that [defendant] is lying about the incident that the victim has alleged,” and thus the officer’s goal was “to minimize it so that later [the defendant] will come out with the truth.” Id.

The Parker Court found no fundamental error, because Parker did not demonstrate an unwaived *constitutional* right was plainly violated:

“[I]n Idaho a trial error that does not violate one or more of the defendant’s constitutionally protected rights is not subject to reversal under the fundamental error doctrine.” [*Perry*, 150 Idaho] at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. In other words, the fundamental error doctrine is not triggered by a violation of a rule or statute. *Id.* *A defendant’s constitutional right to a fair trial is not categorically violated by an evidentiary error. This Court has repeatedly recognized that a lay or expert witness cannot give an opinion of another witness’s credibility or encroach on the fact-finding functions of the jury, but that rule is based on the Idaho Rules of Evidence, not a constitutional provision.*

Id. at 148-49, 334 P.3d at 822-23 (emphasis added). “Thus,” the court concluded, “even assuming that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by eliciting inadmissible opinion testimony, Parker has failed to show a clear violation of a constitutional right,” and “failed to satisfy the threshold analysis under the fundamental error standard.” Id. at 149, 334 P.3d at 823.

That same standard applies here. Ibarra’s claim, at root, is based on the rules of evidence and alleges an evidentiary error. She claims the officer’s opinion testimony did “not speak to a matter that is beyond the common sense, experience, and education of the average juror, and so, such opinions do not ‘assist’ the jury in fulfilling its duties.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 5.) This is simply a paraphrase of I.R.E. 702. Moreover, the cases Ibarra cites in support of her claim—Hester and Ellington—were specifically examining the propriety of eliciting opinions per I.R.E. 702 and 704. See State v. Hester, 114 Idaho 688, 692-96, 760 P.2d 27, 31-35 (1988); Ellington, 151 Idaho at 66-67, 253 P.3d at 740-41. Thus, while packaged on appeal as a due process violation, at root this is an evidentiary claim, based on the rules of evidence. And the Parker Court has already found that while “a lay or expert witness cannot give an opinion of another witness’s credibility or encroach on the fact-finding functions of the jury, ... that rule is based on the Idaho Rules of Evidence, not a constitutional provision.” 157 Idaho at 148–49, 334 P.3d at 822–23.

Ibarra, like Parker, presents a claim of evidentiary error. Per Perry’s first prong, she therefore cannot show a clear violation of a constitutional right, and cannot meet the threshold of showing fundamental error.

3. Even If The Questions To The Officer Would Be A Violation Of An Unwaived Constitutional Right, Ibarra Fails To Show Such An Error Is Clear And Obvious From The Record

Alternatively, even assuming Ibarra can show a violation of an unwaived constitutional right, she fails to meet Perry’s second prong, because she fails to show a violation that is clear and obvious from the record. See Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d

at 980. An appellant alleging fundamental error has the burden under Perry's second prong to show that the error was "clear or obvious, without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision." Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

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